

Assessment of the Relevance of Osmolyte Biosynthesis for Salt Tolerance of Halophytes under Natural Conditions

Marius-Nicuşor Grigore^{1,3*} • Monica Boscaiu² • Oscar Vicente¹

Instituto de Biología Molecular y Celular de Plantas (UPV-CSIC). CPI, edificio 8E, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia, Camino de Vera s/n, 46022 Valencia, Spain
Instituto Agroforestal Mediterráneo (UPV-CSIC). CPI, edificio 8E, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia, Camino de Vera s/n, 46022 Valencia, Spain
Permanent address: Faculty of Biology, Alexandru Ioan Cuza University, Carol I, 20 A, 700505 Iasi, Romania

Corresponding author: * mariusgrigorepsyche@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

The study of the mechanisms of response to salt stress is one of the most active research topics in plant biology, not only due to its unquestionable academic interest but also because of its economic implications, since high soil salinity is – together with drought – one of the major causes of reduction of crop yields worldwide. These studies have shown a series of basic mechanisms of response to abiotic stress, which include, among others, the synthesis and accumulation in the cytoplasm of 'compatible solutes' or osmolytes, used for osmotic balance and as 'osmoprotectants'. Today, there is overwhelming evidence that osmolyte, and especially proline accumulation, represents a general and reliable biochemical marker for salt stress. However, and despite the large amount of data available regarding this response mechanism, our knowledge of the importance of osmolyte biosynthesis for salt tolerance of any given species under natural conditions, is still very limited. This is partly due, in our opinion, to the approaches commonly used in these studies, which rely on experiments performed with salt-sensitive plants (glycophytes) – instead of halophytes, plants naturally adapted to high soil salinities – under artificial laboratory or greenhouse conditions. In this review, we describe and comment on data supporting these ideas, and point out that extreme caution should be taken when assessing the biological relevance of laboratory results.

Keywords: plant stress responses, salt stress, salt tolerance, halophytes, osmolytes, proline, stress markers

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	12
GENERAL RESPONSES OF PLANTS TO SALT STRESS	
BIOSYNTHESIS OF COMPATIBLE SOLUTES	
General remarks	
Functions of osmolytes in stress response mechanisms	
HOW RELEVANT IS OSMOLYTE ACCUMULATION FOR SALT TOLERANCE?	
Correlation between salinity and proline accumulation in halophytes	15
Is proline a physiological osmolyte in <i>Plantago crassifolia</i> ?	
CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Drought and soil salinity are the major environmental factors affecting crop productivity and plant distribution (Boyer 1982; Owens 2001; Bartels and Sunkar 2005; Munns and Tester 2008). Excessive salinity in marginal soils results from natural processes, whereas in arable land it is mostly anthropically generated, due to the progressive accumulation of the ions dissolved in irrigation water (Neumann 1997). This 'secondary salinisation' represents an increasing problem for agriculture, especially in the most productive zones of the world, those cultivated under irrigation in arid and semi-arid regions: about half of their surface is already affected by salt stress, to a higher or lower degree, and more than 10 million ha of agricultural land are lost every year due to salinisation (Owens 2001; Munns 2002; Munns and Tester 2008).

The need to improve the salt tolerance of crops - apart from the academic interest of this topic – has stimulated the study of the mechanisms of plant responses to salt stress, at

the biochemical, cellular and physiological levels. As a result of the work carried out over the last four decades, today these basic mechanisms are relatively well known, mainly involving: i) the control of ion homeostasis and osmotic balance; ii) the synthesis of 'protective' metabolites and proteins; and iii) the activation of chemical and enzymatic antioxidant systems; these general responses are triggered not only by high salinity but also under other environmental stress conditions causing cellular dehydration (osmotic stress), such as drought and too high or too low temperatures (Zhu 2001; Munns 2002; Wang *et al.* 2003; Vinocur and Altman 2005; Hussain *et al.* 2008).

It is generally assumed that plants rely on the abovementioned mechanisms to tolerate salt stress, although, paradoxically, most of these studies have been carried out using glycophytes, i.e., salt-sensitive plants, either crops (e.g. tomato, tobacco, maize, or rice) or *Arabidopsis thaliana*, the model species in plant molecular biology, instead of plants naturally tolerant to high salinity – the halophytes – which *a priori* would appeared to be more suitable for this kind of research.

The definition of halophytes – or halophilic ('saltloving') plants – is not as simple as it would seem at first sight. Even the terminology used to describe the relationships between plants and salinity is very heterogeneous and often confusing (for extensive comments see: Grigore 2008a, 2008b; Grigore and Toma 2010a, 2010b). For example, halophytes have been defined as plants living in natural saline environments, where they are able to complete their life cycles in the presence of salt concentrations of at least 200 mM NaCl. Although there exists a continuous variation in the degree of plant salt tolerance, from very salt-sensitive species to extreme halophytes, this operational definition seems appropriated, excluding about 99% of all angiosperm species, which will not survive under those conditions (Flowers *et al.* 1986; Flowers and Colmer 2008).

The basic mechanisms of salt tolerance in halophytes seem to be mostly dependent on their capacity to sequester toxic ions (Na⁺, Cl⁻) in the vacuoles and to accumulate compatible osmotica in the cytoplasm (Flowers *et al.* 1977; Wyn Jones *et al.* 1977; Glenn *et al.* 1999). Exclusion of ions by the roots, synthesis of specific proteins or activation of antioxidant systems most likely also contribute to the overall salt tolerance of a given species, but the relative importance of these responses is largely unknown. Besides, many halophytes possess a large diversity of additional, often constitutive, mechanisms of defence against high salinity in the soil: salt glands or salt bladders (Grigore and Toma 2010a), succulent tissues and specific photosynthetic adaptations such as Kranz anatomy structure (Grigore and Toma 2010b).

As a very active field in plant biology research, hundreds, if not thousands of reports on the responses of plants to high salinity have been published during the last years – using mostly salt-sensitive species. We can also include here experiments performed to assess the possible increase in salt tolerance of transgenic plants expressing putative halotolerance genes. A few examples of these studies are summarized in **Table 1**.

It is important to note that practically all studies carried out to investigate the mechanisms of salt stress responses use, basically, the same experimental approach. Tissue culture material, germinating seeds, or whole plants at different developmental stages are subjected to increasing salt concentrations (NaCl, generally) for different times, under otherwise optimal conditions - regarding substrate, water and nutrient availability, light, temperature or relative humidity- in the controlled environment of the laboratory or the greenhouse. The 'response' of the plants is then assessed by determining changes in different morphological, physiological or biochemical parameters - which could include from simple growth measurements to the expression of specific genes - in salt-treated plant material, as compared to nontreated samples, which are considered as 'controls'. This artificial situation is different from the 'real life' of plants in their natural habitats, where they are simultaneously subjected to different, uncontrollable environmental stress conditions (Grigore and Toma 2008), which may frequently change, qualitatively and quantitatively, in unpredictable ways, and where the 'non stress' situation simply does not exist. Molecular, biochemical or physiological data on plant responses to salt stress under natural conditions are very scarce, due to the obvious difficulties of performing this kind of research. Therefore, despite the large amount of data obtained in the laboratory and the attempts to generalise them, our knowledge of the mechanisms of salt tolerance operating in halophytes in their natural habitats is still very limited.

The responses of plants to high soil salinity and the possible mechanisms of salt tolerance – and/or tolerance to other abiotic stresses – have been summarized and discussed, with emphasis on different aspects, in many reviews published during the last decade (in addition to references cited above, see for example: Hasegawa *et al.* 2000; Marcum 2002; O'Leary 2002; Sen *et al.* 2002; Tester and Davenport 2003; Sairam and Tyagi 2004; Munns 2005; Parvaiz and Satyawati 2008; Ruan et al. 2010; Ruan and Teixeira da Silva 2011). In this mini-review our aim is to reconsider the possible biological relevance for salt tolerance mechanisms of some biochemical markers of specific stress response pathways according to the ideas outlined in the previous paragraphs. We will focus on osmolytes, and especially on proline (Pro) biosynthesis. We will mention some of the numerous data supporting the notion that Pro could be considered a reliable stress marker, since it indeed accumulates in many plants subjected to salt – or drought – stress; but some contradictory results will also be described, suggesting that Pro accumulation may be relevant for salt tolerance in some species, but not in others. Finally, we will propose some possible future lines of research, complementary to the most common approaches use today, which may contribute to improving our knowledge of the mechanisms of salt tolerance of halophytes in their natural habitats.

GENERAL RESPONSES OF PLANTS TO SALT STRESS

Theoretically, both halophytes and glycophytes face the same problems induced by high salinity of the soil solution: i) lowering of the water potential, leading to cellular dehydration (osmotic stress); ii) toxicity of absorbed Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions, due to inhibition of many enzymatic activities and different cellular processes (protein synthesis, pre-mRNA processing, direct inactivation of proteins and macromolecular structures, or generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (oxidative stress); and iii) interference with the uptake of essential nutrients, such as K⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Zhu 2001; Forment *et al.* 2002; Munns 2002; Wang *et al.* 2003; Flowers and Flowers 2005; Vinocur and Altman 2005).

There is much evidence that all plants, salt-sensitive as well as tolerant, use the same basic mechanisms of response to salt stress mentioned above, involving control of ion homeostasis, synthesis of compatible solutes and protective proteins, and oxidative stress management (Hussain et al. 2008). However, the very fact that halophytes can tolerate NaCl concentrations which will kill any glycophyte (including most wild species and all crops) clearly indicates that all those responses of plants to salt stress generally do not lead to salt tolerance. Therefore, the mechanisms that halophytes use to cope with high soil salinity – apart from anatomic or other adaptations which may be important for particular species – must be much more efficient than those operating in glycophytes, although they may share the same molecular basis in both types of plants. This also highlights the drawbacks and limitations of using salt sensitive models to investigate salt tolerance mechanisms.

BIOSYNTHESIS OF COMPATIBLE SOLUTES

General remarks

As mentioned before, the stress caused by salinity has two major components: osmotic (water) stress causing cellular dehydration, and salt (ion) toxicity (Schulze et al. 2005). Water deficits have been shown to induce a lowering of the osmotic potential in plants as a means of maintaining cellular turgor (Jones et al. 1981). This reduction in the osmotic potential as a response to water deficit can be achieved by solute accumulation within the plant cell or by a decrease in the cell volume, leading to an increased concentration of osmotic solutes as water leaves from the vacuole (Heuer 1999). These phenomena are described as osmoregulation and osmotic adjustment. Osmotic adjustment is a very important mechanism involved in drought and salt tolerance, because it enables maintenance of turgor, cell expansion, stomatal and photosynthetic adjustments and plant growth.

Since sodium (and chloride) ions are toxic at relatively low concentrations, they cannot accumulate in the cytoplasm and must be sequestered in the vacuole; in fact, salt tolerance depends to a great extent on the cellular compart-

Table 1 Examples of experiments performed to reveal the responses of plants to salt stress.

Species	Plant material	al the responses of plants to salt stress. Registered parameters	References	Comments/Remarks
Arabidopsis thaliana	¹ Adult plant		¹ Nanjo <i>et al</i> . 1999a	¹ Alteration of Pro metabolism by
(transgenic)				inhibition of Pro dehydrogenase
	² Adult plant		² Nanjo et al. 1999b	(antisense approach) ² Alteration of Pro metabolism by
	Adun plan		Nanjo el al. 19990	inhibition of Δ - pyrroline-5-
				carboxylate synthetase (antisense
				approach)
	³ Adult plant	³ Growth	³ Forment <i>et al</i> . 2002	³ Overexpression of splicing factors
	⁴ Germinating seeds;	⁴ Germination frequency, growth	⁴ Naranjo <i>et al.</i> 2006	⁴ Overexpression of a GDSL-lipase
Nicotiana tabacum	adult plants ¹ Adult plant		¹ Kishor <i>et al.</i> 1995	¹ Overexpression of Δ - pyrroline-5-
(transgenic)	Addit plant		Kishoi et al. 1995	carboxylate synthetase
	² Tissue culture material		² La Rosa et al. 1991	Role of Δ - pyrroline-5-carboxylate
	(cells adapted to NaCl)			synthetase in the regulation of Pro
				biosynthesis
Lycopersicon esculentum [*] , L. pennellii	¹ Excised leaf discs	¹ Accumulation of Pro and Pro	¹ Guerrier 1998	¹ Higher accumulation of Pro in
		precursors (aspargine, ornithine, glutamate)		salt-sensitive L. esculentum
	² Adult plants	² Growth, ionic relations and Pro	^{2*} Inal 2002	² Salt treatments reduced biomass
	*	accumulation		and increased Pro accumulation
	³ Young and old plants	³ Growth, Pro accumulation	*,3Claussen 2005	³ The highest concentration of Pro
	1	1	1	was found in growing leaves
Oryza sativa	¹ Seedling stage of salt-	¹ Ions and Pro accumulation	¹ Lutts <i>et al.</i> 1996	¹ The salt-resistant cultivar accumulated less Pro than the salt-
	resistant and salt- sensitive cultivars			sensitive
	^{2,3} Seedling stage of	² Seed germination, early seedling	² Momayezi et al.	^{2,3} The amount of Pro within
	different genotypes	growth, water content, Pro accumulation	2009 a	seedlings was reduced by high salt
		³ Seed germination, seedlings growth,	³ Momayezi et al.	levels
	4	Pro content	2009b	4
	⁴ Callus	⁴ Cell growth, water content, Pro	⁴ Summart <i>et al</i> . 2010	⁴ Pro content was 2.0-2.5 -fold
		accumulation, Na ⁺ , K ⁺ , Ca ²⁺ determination		higher in salt-stressed cells than in the control cells
Hordeum vulgare	¹ Excised leaves	¹ Na ⁺ and Pro content, water potential,	¹ Buhl and Stewart	¹ Pro accumulation under salt stress
		osmotic potential	1983	
	² Excised leaves	² Pro, Na ⁺ , K accumulation	² Voetberg and	² Pro increased for about 16 h of salt
			Stewart 1984	exposure, to remain at the same
	³ Young plants	³ Relative water content, Pro	³ Kocheva and	level afterwards ³ Pro levels showed a significant
	roung plants	accumulation	Georgiev 2008	increase in ornithine- and Pro-
			2000	pretreated plants
	⁴ Adult plants of salt-	⁴ Plant growth, ions determination,	⁴ Chen et al. 2007	⁴ Salt treatments increased leaf Pro
	sensitive and salt-	compatible solutes		contents, but more in salt-sensitive
	tolerant cultivars	50 4 5 5 1 4	50 11 11 11	cultivars
	⁵ Adults plants	⁵ Growth, ions, organic solutes determinations	⁵ Garthwaite <i>et al</i> . 2005	⁵ Increase in Pro was much larger in the expanding leaf blade
Phaseolus vulgaris	Calli of bean cultivars	Pro accumulation	Cardenas-Avila <i>et al.</i>	Higher Pro content in tolerant
			2006	varieties
Pennisetum glaucum	Ten-day-old seedlings	Pro accumulation, ion accumulation and	Mukhopadhyay et	Relatively higher increase of Pro
	of lines differing in salt	antioxidative enzyme activities	al. 2007	levels in tolerant lines
Triticum aestivum	sensitivity	Pro, protein contents and peroxidase	Courdonni and	Higher accumulation of Pro in
Irtitcum destivum	Adult plants	activity	Goudarzi and Paknyat 2009	stress tolerant cultivars
Saccharum officinarum	Plantlets	¹ Growth, photosynthetic parameters, Pro	¹ Cha-Um and	¹ Pro content was maximum in the
		accumulation	Kirdmanee 2008	plantlets treated with 300 mM
		_	_	mannitol
	Plantlets	² Growth, Pro and ion accumulation	² Errabii <i>et al.</i> 2006	² Accumulation of Pro occurred in
Linum usitatissimum	Adult plants	Growth, leaf relative water content,	Khan <i>et al</i> . 2007	both cultivars Pro accumulation was registered in
	Aduit plants	enzyme activities, net photosynthetic	Kilali <i>el ul.</i> 2007	three of the four investigated
		rate, chlorophyll content, Pro		genotypes
		accumulation		
Olea europaea	Adult plants	Photosynthetic capacity and Pro content	Ben-Rouina et al.	Increase in Pro levels in leaves and
אין א	0.11		2006	roots of stressed plants
Phoenix dactylifera	Callus	Growth, ions and Pro accumulation	Al-Khayri 2002	Pro accumulation was correlated to
Sorghum bicolor	Adult plants	Growth, ions and Pro accumulation	Weimberg et al.	callus growth inhibition Pro increased 60 and 18 fold in
	Promos		1984	Chloride - and Sulphate-plants

superscript numbers indicate different reports on the same species

mentalisation of toxic ions. Osmotic adjustment under stress then requires the synthesis and accumulation in the cytoplasm of 'compatible solutes' (osmolytes), very soluble organic compounds which do not interfere with normal metabolism, even at high concentrations; their chemical nature is quite diverse, including mostly polyols (glycerol, sorbitol, mannitol), sugars (trehalose, sucrose) and some amino acids and derivatives (Pro, glycine betaine) (e.g., Sairam and Tyagi 2004; Bartels and Sunkar 2005; Flowers and Colmer 2008). Osmolytes are synthesized by many species, not only halophytes, in response to all environmental conditions leading to water stress; in fact, osmolyte accumulation represents a striking case of convergent evolution in solving osmotic problems by all organisms, ranging from microorganisms to plants (Yancey et al. 1982; Burg et al. 1996).

Functions of osmolytes in stress response mechanisms

It was initially presumed that osmolytes played their main biological role in osmotic adjustment, but they appear to have additional functions during the stress response, acting as 'osmoprotectants', by directly stabilizing proteins and membrane structures under dehydration conditions, and by protecting the cell against oxidative stress as scavengers of ROS: can also function as molecules for the cellular storage under stress conditions of C and/or N (and energy), nutrients which will be reutilised by the plant during recovery from stress (Shen et al. 1997; Hong et al. 2000; Akashi et al. 2001; Zhu 2001; Chen and Murata 2002; Ashraf and Foolad 2007; Szabados and Savouré 2010). Thus, it has been shown that, in vitro, Pro reduces the denaturation of enzymes caused by elevated NaCl concentrations; the presence of increased concentrations of Pro, and/or glycine betaine, provides protection against the biologically unfavourable consequences of dehydration-induced thermodynamic perturbations (Hamilton and Heckathorn 2001). Pro may also function as a protein-compatible hydrotrope (Srinivas and Balasubramanian 1995), alleviating cytoplasmic acidosis, and maintaining appropriate NADP⁺/NADPH ratios compatible with metabolism (Hare and Cress 1997). Other additional functions, which could be essential for plant recovery from stress, have been attributed to Pro, for example acting as a signalling molecule to affect cell proliferation, cell death, or to activate the expression of specific genes (Szabados and Savouré 2010, and references therein).

HOW RELEVANT IS OSMOLYTE ACCUMULATION FOR SALT TOLERANCE?

There is a general agreement in considering osmolyte accumulation as a conserved response of plants to abiotic stress conditions that include an osmotic component, as is the case with salt stress. A different question is the relative contribution of osmolyte biosynthesis to the stress tolerance of a particular species, which could be minor, as compared to other stress response mechanisms.

There is some confusion regarding the concepts of stress responses and stress tolerance. As mentioned before, all plants appear to use the same basic mechanisms of res*ponse* to different abiotic stress conditions, and any model could be used, in principle, to investigate those mechanisms. However, only in a limited number of species those responses seem to be efficient enough to confer tolerance to a particular stress. Thus, in absolute terms and by definition, only halophytes should be considered as 'salt-tolerant'; therefore, in our opinion, studies to elucidate salt tolerance mechanisms should better focus on halophytic species. Of course, the concept of salt tolerance or salt resistance can also be applied to glycophytes, but in relative terms – obviously, there are differences in the degree of resistance between different species, or between different cultivars of the same species. Comparative studies trying to correlate osmolyte contents with the relative tolerance levels of related

taxa could also give useful information on salt tolerance mechanisms.

Correlation between salinity and proline accumulation in halophytes

A large number of published reports support the notion that the concentration of Pro – or other osmolytes – in plants increases in parallel with an increase of the external salinity level. Most available data refer to experiments with glycophytes, either *Arabidopsis* or some crop species, but there are also examples in halophytes; in both cases, practically all those experiments were performed under artificial laboratory conditions. There are also reports on the absolute Pro contents in halophytes collected from the field. However, studies to determine possible *changes* in Pro levels of halophytes in their natural habitats, in response to changes in soil salinity – for example, sampling the plant material under different climatic conditions or in different seasons – are much scarcer.

Perhaps some of the earliest data regarding accumulation of Pro in halophytes are those recorded by Stewart and Lee (1974). These authors found that, under non-saline conditions, Pro levels in Triglochin maritima were low, but increased as the salinity was raised, so that at high external salt concentrations free Pro could reach values representing 10-20% of the shoot dry weight. Cavalieri and Huang (1979) showed that when some salt marsh halophytes were exposed to increasing salinities, they accumulated Pro once a threshold salinity had been reached. Three general patterns were reported. Limonium carolinianum and Juncus romerianus began to accumulate Pro at 0.25% NaCl (ca. 40 mM) reaching levels up to 63.6 µmoles/g fresh weight at higher salinities. In the same work, it was found that C_4 grasses (Spartina alterniflora, Spartina patens and Distichlis spicata) had threshold salinity levels around 0.5 M NaCl and accumulated Pro to 27.4 µmoles/g fresh weight. Succulent species, Salicornia bigelovii, S. virginica and Borrichia frutescens, did not accumulated Pro until very high salinities (0.7 M) were reached.

Youssef (2009) reported the analysis of several compounds involved in the response to salt stress, in five succulent halophytes – *Halocnemum strobilaceum, Arthrocnemum macrostachyum, Halopeplis perfoliata, Suaeda vermiculata* and *Seidlitzia rosmarinus* – collected from two natural habitats with different salinity levels (as determined by electrical conductivity and ions content measurements). For all these species, Pro levels were higher in the plants from the sampling site with higher soil salinity.

It has been suggested that there exists a correlation between the type of compatible solute(s) used by different species and their taxonomic classification. Several attempts have been made to determine which particular osmolyte accumulates in specific families and/or genera (Gorham *et al.* 1980; Gorham *et al.* 1981; Vernon and Bohnert, 1992; Rhodes and Hanson, 1993; Hanson *et al.* 1994; Popp and Albert, 1995; Ishitani *et al.* 1996; Stoop *et al.* 1996; Naidu *et al.* 2000; Noiraud *et al.* 2001; Murakeozy *et al.* 2003; Arndt *et al.* 2004; Koyro 2006; Tipirdamaz *et al.* 2006).

In a recent study, Tipirdamaz *et al.* (2006) analysed 51 halophytic species from an inland, non-submerged salt marsh in Central Anatolia and found that proline and glycine betaine 'behave as almost omnipresent solutes'. Their results confirm previous findings (Stewart *et al.* 1979, Briens and Larher 1982) that the osmolye type permits discrimination between taxa, and underline that species that are Pro accumulators show low levels of glycine betaine, and *vice versa*. Tipirdamaz *et al.* (2006) also discuss the importance of nitrogen as limiting factor in the inland salt marshes and the fact that nitrogen requirements for accumulation of nitrogenous osmolytes may represent an adaptive trait of 'paramount importance'.

Proline contents have also been determined in mangrove species, with mixed results. Pro accumulation in response to salt stress has been reported in roots and shoots of *Aegialitis annulata* (Popp and Polania 1989). On the other hand, Popp and Albert (1995) found that, out of twelve mangrove species investigated, only two – *Acanthus ilicifolius* and *Xylocarpus granatum* – contained relatively high levels of Pro; similarly, *Avicennia marina* also accumulates very low Pro in its shoot (Yasseen and Abu-Al-Basal 2008). These data suggest that mangrove species generally do not behave as Pro accumulators, which could be related to the complexity and diversity of adaptive mechanisms coping with salinity in coastal ecosystems (Walsh 1974; Tomlinson 1986; Adam 1990; Hogart 1999; Cronk and Siobhan Fennessy 2001; Lüttge 2002; Hogart 2007).

The level of Pro increased with the salinity of the habitat in three submerged aquatic halophytic species of *Ruppia* (Brock, 1981). In general, Pro content increased in young plants during the phase of active plant growth, decreasing later on during the life cycle. Since earlier developmental stages are more sensitive to stress than adult plants, higher Pro levels may provide increased protection to the more sensitive phase of vegetative growth.

Flowers and Hall (1978) reported a 20-fold increase of Pro levels in shoots of *Sueda maritima* plants grown in the presence of 340 mM NaCl, as compared to control plants grown in the absence of salt. The related taxon *Suaeda salsa* – previously considered as a subspecies of *S. maritima* – as well as *Limonium bicolor* also accumulated Pro in the shoots with increasing external NaCl concentrations; in this case, the shoots of *L. bicolor* contained more Pro than those of *S. salsa*, especially at higher salinity levels (Liu *et al.* 2008). Pro accumulation in response to salt stress has also been reported for another member of the Chenopodiaceae, *Atriplex farinosa* (Morsy 2008), or in leaves of *Lepidium crassifolium* from an inland saline area (Mile *et al.* 2002).

These and many other studies clearly indicate that synthesis and accumulation of Pro represents a general response to salt stress in many halophytes, at least qualitatively; the same function is probably fulfilled by glicine betaine or other osmolytes in those species that are not Pro accumulators. There are, however, significant differences among species regarding quantitative aspects of this response, such as the threshold salinity level which triggers osmolyte accumulation, the endogenous osmolyte concentration that can be reached or the kinetics of the reaction.

Is proline a physiological osmolyte in *Plantago* crassifolia?

As mentioned before, most studies on the mechanisms of response to high salinity are carried out under controlled experimental conditions, generally quite different from those to which plants are subjected in their natural habitats. Therefore, one should always be aware that the results obtained in the laboratory might not be relevant regarding the physiological mechanisms of salt tolerance of a given halophyte, as shown by our own work with *Plantago crassifolia*.

Comparative studies on the responses to salt stress in taxa with different levels of resistance to salt, but with similar genetic backgrounds (e.g. related species from the same genus), may help to establish which of those responses are essential for salt tolerance and which are not. The genus Plantago is a good choice for this experimental approach, since it includes species with considerable differences in their degree of tolerance, from salt-sensitive taxa, such as P. media, to typical halophytes like P. maritima (e.g. Erdei and Kuiper 1979). In our experiments, treatment of the halophyte Plantago crassifolia with 500 mM NaCl in the greenhouse resulted in a 20-fold increase in Pro levels in the leaves, as compared with control, non-treated plants, although most of this increment was observed at relatively high salt concentrations, over 300 mM NaCl (Vicente et al. 2004). These data, at first sight, seem to support the notion that Pro has indeed a physiological role in the responses to salinity in this species; however, they do not agree with previous studies showing that all Plantago species investigated including salt-sensitive and salt-tolerant taxa - use sorbitol, not Pro, as osmolyte (e.g. Ahmad et al. 1979; Konigshofer 1983). Since, to our knowledge, there are not known examples of plant species belonging to the same genus, which accumulate different compatible solutes in response to salt stress, the possibility that Pro could be a physiological osmolyte in P. crassifolia is extremely unlikely. In fact, P. crassifolia is never subjected to so high salinity levels in its natural habitats; the results obtained in the laboratory, although formally correct, have no ecological meaning: the observed accumulation of Pro in response to salt cannot be relevant for salt tolerance of this species under field conditions. In agreement with this statement, no significant differences in Pro content were found between P. crassifolia plants growing in two zones of a salt marsh with different soil salinity levels, as determined by electrical conductivity measurements and analysis of soil samples (M. Boscaiu et al., unpublished data). This specific example highlights the necessity to analyse with extreme caution the results of laboratory experiments, to avoid erroneous conclusions and generalisations. This should be obvious, but it is common that reported salt treatments carried out in the lab include very high concentrations, higher than sea water and up to 1 M NaCl, which is extremely unlikely the plants can encounter in nature (see, for some examples: Khan and Weber 1986, Khan et al. 2000; Aghaleh et al. 2009).

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

As a result of intensive research carried out over the last two decades, nowadays the deleterious effects for plants of salt stress, and the mechanisms used by them to respond to high soil salinity, are relatively well known. Comparatively, our knowledge of the mechanisms of salt tolerance, at the biochemical, cellular and physiological levels, is still very limited. Although there is no precise definition of 'halophytes', it is clear that most plants cannot survive even relatively mild conditions of salt stress. This indicates that all the responses triggered by stress in plants, which have been mentioned in the previous pages, do not generally lead to stress tolerance... except in halophytes. Still, it is not known which of those responses are important, and which provide only a minor contribution, for salt tolerance of a given salt-tolerant species.

It is not worth discussing here the obvious advantages of using model systems, such as Arabidopsis thaliana, for the study of the molecular mechanisms of response to stress; it is also logical to work on crops of economic interest. However, these species are all salt-sensitive; they have provided - and will continue to provide - valuable information on the biochemical and physiological responses of plants to high soil salinity... but probably are not the most appropriate to investigate salt tolerance mechanisms. In addition to current research - not as an alternative we believe that increasing research on halophytes could substantially contribute to elucidate those mechanisms. Most likely, several halophytic 'model species' will have to be selected for these studies, as diverse salt-tolerance strategies are used by different halophytes (for a more extensive discussion on the value of models, see Flowers and Colmer 2008)

We also believe that more fieldwork will be necessary to define and understand biologically significant salt tolerance mechanisms in halophytes. Up to now, most data available on salt stress responses/tolerance have been obtained in laboratory set-ups, under artificial, highly controlled conditions, far different from the conditions the plants encounter in their natural habitats. This experimental approach is of course correct, and much easier than working in the field, but one should be aware of its limitations and drawbacks; the results of lab or greenhouse experiments should be analysed with caution, since they may have no ecological meaning.

A complementary approach could be based on the ana-

lysis of changes in the levels of different biochemical markers of stress responses (e.g., proline contents) in plant material collected in natural saline habitats and under different environmental conditions. These conditions (soil salinity, humidity, temperature, rainfall, etc.) cannot be controlled in nature, but they can be measured and correlated with the plant responses. These studies would then require the work of multidisciplinary research teams, including biochemists, botanists, ecologists and soil scientists. Also, comparative studies in taxa with different levels of salt tolerance but similar genetic backgrounds – for example, related species of the same genus – may help to establish which of the observed responses are essential for salt tolerance, and which are not.

Summarising, we propose to increase the research on the responses of halophytes to salt stress in their natural habitats, as a complement to the studies with salt-sensitive models in laboratory conditions. This strategy will most likely contribute significantly to improve our knowledge of salt tolerance mechanisms.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Work in the UPV laboratories is being funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (project CGL2008-00438/ BOS), with contribution from the European Regional Development Fund. M.-N.G. acknowledges the support provided by the Romanian POSDRU project 'Developing the innovation capacity and improving the impact of research through post-doctoral programmes', and by COST Action FA0901: 'Putting Halophytes to work – From Genes to Ecosystems' for his stay in Valencia in the frame of a Short Term Scientific Mission.

REFERENCES

- Adam P (1990) Saltmarsh Ecology, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 461 pp
- Aghaleh M, Niknam V, Ebrahimzadeh H, Razavi K (2009) Salt stress effects on growth, pigments, proteins and lipid peroxidation in *Salicornia persica* and *S. europaea. Biologia Plantarum* 53, 243-248
- Ahmad I, Larher F, Stewart G (1979) Sorbitol, a compatible osmotic solute in Plantago maritima. New Phytologist 82, 671-678
- Akashi K, Miyake C, Yokota A (2001) Citrulline, a novel compatible solute in drought-tolerant wild watermelon leaves, is an efficient hydroxyl radical scavenger. *FEBS Letters* 508, 438-442
- Al-Khayri J (2002) Growth, proline accumulation and ion content in sodium chloride-stressed callus of date palm. In Vitro Cellular and Development Biology – Plant 38 (1), 79-82
- Arndt SK, Arampatsis C, Foetzki A, Li XY, Zeng FJ, Zhang XM (2004) Contrasting patterns of leaf solute accumulation and salt adaptation in four phreatophytic desert plants in a hyperarid desert with saline groundwater. *Journal of Arid Environments* 59, 259-270
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 59, 206-216
- Bartels D, Sunkar R (2005) Drought and salt tolerance in plants. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 24, 23-59
- Ben-Rouina B, Ben-Ahmed C, Athar H-U-R, Boukhriss M (2006) Water relations, proline accumulation and photosynthetic activity in olive tree (*Olea europaea* L. Cv "Chemlali") in response to salt stress. Pakistan Journal of Botany 38 (5), 1397-1406
- Boyer JS (1982) Plant productivity and environment. Science 218, 443-448
- Briens M, Larher F (1982) Osmoregulation in halophytic higher plants: A comparative study of soluble carbohydrates, polyols, betaines and free proline. *Plant Cell and Environment* 5, 287-292
- Brock MA (1981) Accumulation of proline in a submerged aquatic halophyte, Ruppia L. Oecologia (Berlin) 51, 217-219
- Buhi MB, Stewart CR (1983) Effects of NaCl on proline synthesis and utilization in excised barley leaves. *Plant Physiology* 72, 664-667
- Burg MB, Kwon ED, Kultz D (1996) Osmotic regulation of gene expression. *FASEB Journal* 10, 1598-1606
- Cardenas-Avila ML, Verde-Star J, Maiti RK, Foroughbakhch-P R, Gamez-Gonzales H, Martinez-Lozano S, Nunez-Gonzales MA, Garcia Diaz G, Hernandez-Pinero JL, Morales-Vallarta MR (2006) Variability in accumulation of free proline on *in vitro* calli of four bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) varieties exposed to salinity and induced moisture stress. *Phyton (International Journal of Experimental Botany)* 75, 103-108
- Cavalieri AJ, Huang AHC (1979) Evaluation of proline accumulation in the adaptation of diverse species of marsh halophytes to the saline environment.

American Journal of Botany 66, 307-312

- Cha-um S, Kirdmanee C (2008) Effect of osmotic stress on proline accumulation, photosynthetic abilities and growth of sugarcane plantlets (*Saccharum* officinarum L.). Pakistan Journal of Botany 40 (6), 2541-2552
- Chen THH, Murata N (2002) Enhancement of tolerance of abiotic stress by metabolic engineering of betaines and other compatible solutes. *Current Opi*nion in Plant Biology 5, 250-257
- Chen Z, Cuin TA, Zhou M, Twomey A, Naidu BP, Shabala S (2007) Compatible solute accumulation and stress-mitigating effects in barley genotypes contrasting in their salt tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58 (15/16), 4245-4255
- Claussen W (2005) Proline as a measure of stress in tomato plants. Plant Science 168, 241-248
- Cronk JK, Siobhan Fennessy M (2001) Wetland Plants. Biology and Ecology, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington, D.C., 462 pp
- **Erdei L, Kuiper PJC** (1979) The effect of salinity on growth, cation content, Na⁺ uptake and translocation in salt-sensitive and salt-tolerant *Plantago* species. *Physiologia Plantarum* **47**, 95-99
- Errabii T, Gandonou CB, Essalmani H, Abrini J, Idaomar M, Skali-Senhaji N (2006) Growth, proline and ion accumulation in sugarcane callus cultures under drought-induced osmotic stress and its subsequent relief. *African Journal of Biotechnology* **5 (16)**, 1488-1493
- Flowers TJ, Hall JL (1978) Salt tolerance in the halophyte *Suaeda maritima* (L) Dum.: The influence of the salinity of the culture solution on the content of various organic compounds. *Annals of Botany* **42**, 1057-1063
- Flowers TJ, Flowers SA (2005) Why does salinity pose such a difficult problem for plant breeders? *Agricultural Water Management* 78, 15-24
- Flowers TJ, Colmer TD (2008) Salinity tolerance in halophytes. New Phytologist 179, 945-963
- Flowers TJ, Hajibagheri MA, Clipson NJW (1986) Halophytes. The Quarterly Review of Biology 61, 313-337
- Flowers TJ, Troke PF, Yeo AR (1977) The mechanism of salt tolerance in halophytes. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology* 28, 89-121
- Forment J, Naranjo MA, Roldán M, Serrano R, Vicente O (2002) Expression of Arabidopsis SR-like splicing proteins confers salt tolerance to yeast and transgenic plants. The Plant Journal 30, 511-519
- **Garthwaite AJ, von Bothmer R, Colmer TD** (2005) Salt tolerance in wild *Hordeum* species is associated with restricted entry of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ into the shoots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **56** (**419**), 2365-2378
- Glenn EP, Brown JJ, Blumwald E (1999) Salt tolerance and crop potential of halophytes. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 18, 227-255
- Gorham J, Hughes L, Wyn Jones RG (1980) Chemical composition of saltmarsh plants from Ynys Môn (Anglesey): the concept of physiotypes. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 3, 309-318
- Gorham J, Hughes L, Wyn Jones RG (1981) Low-molecular-weight carbohydrate in some salt stressed plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 53, 27-33
- Goudarzi M, Pakniyat H (2009) Salinity causes increase in proline and protein contents and peroxidase activity in wheat cultivars. *Journal of Applied Sci*ences 9, 348-353
- Grigore MN (2008a) Halophytotaxonomy. List of Romanian Salt Tolerant Plants, PIM Press, Iasi, 137 pp (in Romanian)
- Grigore MN (2008b) Introductory Halophytology. Integrative Anatomy Aspects, PIM Press, Iasi, 238 pp (in Romanian)
- Grigore MN, Toma C (2008) Polymorphic histo-anatomical adaptations of halophytes under different natural stress factors. *Physiologia Plantarum Special Issue: Redox Signal Integration* 133 (3) FESPB 2008 Abstracts (Abstract)
- Grigore MN, Toma C (2010a) *Halophytes. Ecological Anatomy Aspects*, Alexandru Ioan Cuza University Press, Iasi, 310 pp (in Romanian)
- Grigore MN, Toma C (2010b) Salt-secreting Structures of Halophytes. An Integrative Approach, Romanian Academic Press, Bucharest, 290 pp (in Romanian)
- Guerrier G (1998) Proline accumulation in salt-treated tomato: Different proline precursors in *Lycopersicon esculentum* and *Lycopersicon pennellii. Journal of Plant Nutrition* **21**, 505-513
- Hamilton III EW, Heckathorn SA (2001) Mithocondrial adaptations to NaCl. Complex I is protected by antioxidants and small heat shock proteins, whereas complex II is protected by proline and betaine. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1266-1274
- Hanson AD, Rathinasabapathi B, Rivoal J, Burnet M, Dillon MO, Gage DA (1994) Osmoprotective compounds in the Plumbaginaceae – a natural experiment in metabolic engineering of stress tolerance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 91, 306-310
- Hare PD, Cress WA (1997) Metabolic implications of stress-induced proline accumulation in plants. *Plant Growth Regulation* 21, 79-102
- Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA, Zhu J-K, Bohnert HJ (2000) Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 51, 463-499
- Heuer B (1999) Osmoregulatory role of proline in plants exposed to environmental stresses. In: Pessarakli M (Ed) *Handbook of Plant and Crop Stress* (2nd Edn), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, Basel, pp 675-696
- Hogart PJ (1999) The Biology of Mangroves, Oxford University Press, New York, 228 pp

- Hogart PJ (2007) *The Biology of Mangroves and Seagrasses* (2nd Edn), Oxford University Press, New York, 284 pp
- Hong Z, Lakkineni K, Zhang Z, Verma DPS (2000) Removal of feedback proline accumulation of Δl-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase results in increased proline accumulation and protection of plants from osmotic stress. *Plant Physiology* **122**, 1129-1136
- Hussain TM, Chandrasekhar T, Hazara M, Sultan Z, Saleh BK, Gopal GR (2008) Recent advances in salt stress biology – a review. *Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Review* **3**, 8-13
- Inal A (2002) Growth, proline accumulation and ionic relations of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum L.) as influenced by NaCl and Na₂SO₄ salinity. Turkish Journal of Botany 26, 285-290
- Ishitani M, Majumader AL, Bornhouser A, Michalowski CB, Jensen RG, Bohnert HJ (1996) Coordinate transcriptional induction of *myo*-inositol metabolism during environmental stress. *Plant Journal* 58, 1219-1229
- Jones MM, Turner NC, Osmond CB (1981) Mechanisms of drought resistance. In: Paleg LG, Aspinall D (Eds) *Physiology and Biochemistry of Drought Resistance in Plants*, Sydney, Academic Press, pp 15-37
- Khan MA, Ungar IA, Showalter AM (2000) The effect of salinity on the growth, water status, and ion content of a leaf succulent perennial halophyte, *Suaeda fruticosa* (L.) Forssk. *Journal of Arid Environments* 45, 73-84
- Khan MA, Weber DJ (1986) Factors influencing seed germination in *Salicor*nia pacifica var. Utahensis. *American Journal of Botany* **73**, 1163-1167
- Khan MN, Siddiqui MH, Mohammad F, Masroor M, Khan A, Naeem M (2007) Salinity induced changes in growth, enzyme activities, photosynthesis, proline accumulation and yield in linseed genotypes. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences* **3** (5), 685-695
- Kishor PBK, Hong Z, Miao GH, Hu CAA, Verma DPS (1995) Overexpression of Δ-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase increases proline production and confers osmotolerance in transgenic plants. *Plant Physiology* **108 (4)**, 1387-1394
- Kocheva KV, Georgiev GI (2008) Changes in foliar proline concentration of osmotically stressed barley. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C. A Journal of Biosciences 63 (1-2), 101-104
- Konigshofer H (1983) Changes in ion composition and hexitol content of different *Plantago* species under the influence of salt stress. *Plant and Soil* 72, 289-296
- Koyro HW (2006) Effect of salinity on growth, photosynthesis, water relations and solute composition of the potential cash crop halophyte *Plantago coronopus* (L.). *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 56, 136-146
- LaRosa PC, Rhodes D, Rhodes JC, Bressan RA, Csonka LN (1991) Elevated accumulation of proline in NaCl-adapted tobacco cells is not due to altered Δ-pyrroline-5- carboxylate reductase. *Plant Physiology* **96**, 245-250
- Liu X, Duan D, Li W, Tadano T, Khan MA (2008) A comparative study on responses of growth and solute composition in halophytes *Suaeda salsa* and *Limonium bicolor* to salinity. In: Khan MA, Webber DJ (Eds) *Ecophysiology* of High Salinity Tolerant Plants, Springer Science + Business Media, Dordrecht, pp 135-143
- Lüttge U (2002) Mangroves. In: Läuchli A, Lüttge U (Eds) Salinity: Environment-Plants-Molecules, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 113-135
- Lutts S, Kinet JM, Bouharmont J (1996) Effects of salt stress on growth, mineral nutrition and proline accumulation in relation to osmotic adjustment in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars differing in salinity resistance. *Plant Growth Regulation* 19, 207-218
- Marcum KB (2002) Growth and physiological adaptations of grasses to salinity stress. In: Pessarakli M (Ed) Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology (2nd Edn), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 623-636
- Mile O, Meszaros I, Veres S, Lakatos G (2002) Ecophysiological study on the salt tolerance of a pannonian endemism (*Lepidium crassifolium* (W. et K.)) in inland saline area. *Acta Biologica Szegediensis* 46, 249-250
- Momayezi MR, Zaharah AR, Hanafi MM, Mohd Razi I (2009a) Agronomic characteristics and proline accumulation of Iranian rice genotypes at early seedling stage under sodium salt stress. *Malaysian Journal of Soil Science* 13, 59-75
- Momayezi MR, Zaharah AR, Hanafi MM, Mohd Razi I (2009b) Seed germination and proline accumulation in Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) as affected by salt concentrations. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science* 32 (2), 247-259
- Morsy AA (2008) Ecophysiological studies on *Atriplex farinosa* (Forssk.) under different habitat conditions. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences* **2**, 272-281
- Mukhopadhyay R, Reddy PS, Pallela R, Chakra Reddy N, Venkateswara Rao J, Hash CT, Kavi Kishor PB (2007) Differential responses of proline, ion accumulation and antioxidative enzyme activities in Pearl millet [*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) R. Br.] lines differing in salt sensitivity. *Journal of Plant Biology* 34, 185-192
- Munns R (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. Plant, Cell and Environment 25, 239-250
- Munns R (2005) Genes and salt tolerance: Bringing them together. New Phytologist 167, 645-663
- Munns R, Tester M (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. *Annual Review* of *Plant Biology* **59**, 651-681
- Murakeozy EP, Nagy Z, Duhaze C, Bouchereau A, Tuba Z (2003) Seasonal

changes in the leaves of compatible osmolytes in three halophytic species of inland saline vegetation in Hungary. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **160**, 395-401

- Murakeözy EP, Nagy Z, Duhazé C, Bouchereau A, Tuba Z (2003) Seasonal changes in the levels of compatible osmolytes in three halophytic species of inland saline vegetation in Hungary. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160 (4), 395-401
- Naidu BP, Paleg LG, Jones GP (2000) Accumulation of proline analogues and adaptation of *Melaleuca* species to diverse environments in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* 48, 611-620
- Nanjo T, Kobayashi M, Yoshiba Y, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1999a) Antisense suppression of proline degradation improves tolerance to freezing and salinity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. FEBS Letters 461, 205-210
- Nanjo T, Kobayashi M, Yoshiba Y, Sanada Y, Wada K, Tsukaya H, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1999b) Biological functions of proline in morphogenesis and osmotolerance revealed in antisense transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Journal 18 (2), 185-193
- Naranjo MA, Forment J, Roldán M, Serrano R, Vicente O (2006) Overexpression of Arabidopsis LTL1, a salt-induced gene encoding a GDSL-motif lipase, increases salt tolerance in yeast and transgenic plants. Plant, Cell and Environment 29, 1890-1900
- Neumann P (1997) Salinity resistance and plant growth revisited. Plant, Cell and Environment 20, 1193-1198
- Noiraud N, Maurousset L, Lemoine R (2001) Transport of polyols in higher plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **39**, 717-728
- **O'Leary JW** (2002) Adaptative components of salt tolerance. In: Pessarakli M (Ed) *Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology* (2nd Edn), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 615-622
- Owens S (2001) Salt of the Earth. Genetic engineering may help to reclaim agricultural land lost due to salinisation. *EMBO Reports* 2, 877-879
- Parvaiz A, Satyawati S (2008) Salt stress and phyto-biochemical responses of plants – a review. *Plant Soil Environment* 54, 89-99
- Popp M, Albert R (1995) The role of organic solutes in salinity adaptation of mangroves and herbaceous halophytes. In: Khan Ajmal M, Ungar IA (Eds) *Biology of Salt Tolerant Plants*, Department of Botany, University of Karachi, Karachi, Pakistan, pp 139-149
- Popp M, Polania J (1989) Compatible solutes in different organs of mangroves trees. Annales des Sciences Forestières 46 (Special Issue), 842-844 s
- Rhodes D, Hanson AD (1993) Quaternary ammonium and tertiary sulfonium compounds in higher-plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 44, 357-384
- Ruan C-J, Teixeira da Silva JA, Qin P, Lutts S, Gallagher JL (2010) Halophyte improvement for a salinized world. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 29 (6), 329-359
- Ruan C-J, Teixeira da Silva JA (2011) Metabolomics: Creating new potentials for unraveling mechanisms in response to salt and drought stress and for biotechnological improvement of xero-halophytes. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* **31** (2), 153-169
- Sairam RK, Tyagi A (2004) Physiology and molecular biology of salinity stress tolerance in plants. *Current Science* 86, 407-421
- Schulze E-D, Beck E, Müller-Hohenstein K (2005) Plant Ecology, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 692 pp
- Sen DN, Kasera PK, Mohammed S (2002) Biology and physiology of saline plants. In: Pessarakli M (Ed) Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology (2nd Edn), Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 563-581
- Shen B, Jensen RG, Bohnert HJ (1997) Mannitol protects against oxidation by hyderoxyl radicals. *Plant Physiology* 115, 527-532
- Srinivas V, Balasubramanian D (1995) Proline is a protein-compatible hydrotrope. Langmuir 11, 2830-2833
- Stewart GR, Lee JA (1974) The role of proline accumulation in halophytes. Planta 120, 279-289
- Stewart GR, Larher F, Ahmad I, Lee JA (1979) Nitrogen metabolism and salt-tolerance in higher plant halophytes. In: Jeffries RL, Davy AJ (Eds) Ecological Processes in Coastal Environments, Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, pp 211-227
- Summart J, Thanonkeo P, Panichajakul S, Prathepha P, McManus MT (2010) Effect of salt stress on growth, inorganic ion and proline accumulation in Thai aromatic rice, Khao Dawk Mali 105, callus culture. *African Journal* of *Biotechnology* 9 (2), 145-152
- Szabados L, Savoure A (2010) Proline: A multifunctional amino acid. Trends in Plant Science 15, 89-97
- Tester M, Davenport R (2003) Na⁺ tolerance and Na⁺ transport in higher plants. *Annals of Botany* **91**, 503-527
- Tipirdamaz R, Gagneul D, Duhazé C, Aïnouche A, Monnier C, Özkum D, Larher F (2006) Clustering of halophytes from an inland salt marsh in Turkey according to their ability to accumulate sodium and nitrogenous osmolytes. Environmental and Experimental Botany 57, 139-153
- Tomlinson PB (1986) The Botany of Mangroves, Cambridge University Press, New York, 413 pp
- Vernon DM, Bohnert HJ (1992) Increased expression of a myoinositol methyl transferase in *Mesembryanthemum crystallinum* is part of a stress response distinct from Crassulacean acid metabolism induction. *Plant Physiology* 99,

1695-1698

- Vicente O, Boscaiu M, Naranjo MA, Estrelles E, Bellés JM, Soriano P (2004) Responses to salt stress in the halophyte *Plantago crassifolia* (Plantaginaceae). *Journal of Arid Environments* **58**, 463-481
- Vinocur B, Altman A (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: Achievements and limitations. *Current Opinion in Biotechnol*ogy 16, 123-132
- Voetberg G, Stewart CR (1984) Steady state proline levels in salt-shocked barley leaves. *Plant Physiology* 76, 567-570
- Walsh GE (1974) Mangroves: A review. In: Reimold RJ, Queen WH (Eds) Ecology of Halophytes, Academic Press, New York and London, pp 51-174
- Wang W, Vinocur B, Altman A (2003) Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance. *Planta* 218, 1-14

Weimberg R, Lerner HR, Poljakoff-Mayber A (1982) A relationship between

potassium and proline accumulation in salt-stressed Sorghum bicolor. Physiologia Plantarum 55 (1), 5-10

- Wyn Jones R, Storey R, Leigh RA, Ahmad N, Pollard A. 1977. A hypothesis on cytoplasmic osmoregulation. In: Marre E, Ciferri O (Eds) Regulation of Cell Membrane Activities in Plants, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 121-136
- Yancey PH, Clark ME, Hand SC, Bowlus RD, Somero GN (1982) Living with water stress: Evolution of osmolyte systems. *Science* 217, 1214-1222
- Yasseen BT, Abu-Al-Basal MA (2008) Ecophysiology of Limonium axillare and Avicennia marina from the coastline of Arabian Gulf-Qatar. Journal of Coastal Conservation 12, 35-42
- Youssef AM (2009) Salt tolerance mechanisms in some halophytes from Saudi Arabia and Egypt. Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences 5 (3), 191-206
- Zhu J-K (2001) Plant salt tolerance. Trends in Plant Science 6, 66-71